
MAYOR  CITY MANAGER 

Shirley Sessions Dr. Shawn Gillen 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem Jan LeViner 

Brian West  

Jay Burke CITY ATTORNEY 
Nancy DeVetter Edward M. Hughes 

Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks  

 CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

September 08, 2022 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Posting of the Colors and Pledge 
     Invocation 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Announcements 
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. Employee of the 2nd Quarter:  Michele Dicus, River's End Campground 
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee island City Council 

2. Minutes:  City Council Meeting, August 25, 2022 
3. Attachment to minutes 

 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda other than the Public Hearings,  
please come to the podium.  Please limited your comments to 3 - 5 minutes. 
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
Public Hearings 

4. Site Plan: 601 US Hwy 80 – Cameron Weeks 
5. Special Review: 3 Ocean View Court – Daniel & Ann Iyer 
6. Tree Appeal: 30 Meddin Drive – Tybee Island Historical Society. 

 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 

7. Warrick Group Consultants:  Approve the increase in funding for the coming year 
 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 

8. First Reading:  09-2022 Regulation of Motorized Carts 
9. Resolution, 2022-07, Salt Meadows and Savannah River Utilities Company 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 
Minutes, Planning Commission (for information only) 

10. Planning Commission Minutes August 15, 2022 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

11. Brian West:  Tybee Island Ballot Referendum on STR's 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 

should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 
meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 

Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

2. Minutes:  City Council Meeting, August 25, 2022

- Page 3 -Item #2.



City Council Minutes, August 25, 2022 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Posting of the Colors and Pledge of Allegiance, American Legion Post 154 
     Invocation – Mac McLean, Code Enforcement 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda 
Mayor Sessions called the Consent Agenda to order at 6:30PM.  Those present were Nancy 
DeVetter, Monty Parks, Brian West, Barry Brown, Jay Burke and Spec Hosti.   Also attending were 
Dr. Shawn Gillen, City Manager; Michelle Owens, Assistant City Manager; Bubba Hughes, City 
Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney; George Shaw, Director, Community Development; and 
Janet LeViner, Clerk of Council.   
 
Mayor Sessions listed the following items on the consent agenda: 

 Minutes, City Council Meeting, August 11, 2022 
 Agenda Request: Peace Officers Association of Georgia: 3-Day Special Event Private 

Property-Alcohol, Beer and Wine Held at The Grand View at Hotel Tybee, September 11, 
12, and 13, 2022 

 Contract with FCMC as a Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) Manager - Community 
Development 

 
Mayor Sessions called the regular meeting to order.  All those present for the consent agenda 
were present. 
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 
Mayor Sessions asked Jay Burke and his family to come forward.  She then read a 
Proclamation celebrating the life of former council member Jimmy Burke.  Jay Burke thanked 
Mayor, Council, and Staff for the tribute to his father.   
 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum allowable times 
of 5 minutes. 

 Debbie Kearney:  Supports extending the Moratorium 
 Dawn Shay:  Supports extending the Moratorium 
 Mindy Hartley:  Does not support extending the Moratorium 
 Alisa Salaki:  Supports extending the Moratorium 
 Colleen Bozard:  Supports extending the Moratorium 
 Jan Will:  Supports extending the Moratorium 

 Ruthie Wilson:  Supports extending the Moratorium 
 Roger Huff:  Moratorium never justified 
 Kathryn Williams:  Supports extending the Moratorium 
 Jeanne Hutton:  Supports extending the Moratorium 
 Ginny Willett:  Equal Protection Process 
 Cody Jones:  Opposes extending the Moratorium 
 Ken Williams:  Supports extending the Moratorium 
 Keith Gay:  Council needs to look at the revenue stream from STR’s 
 Shirley Wright:  Supports extending the Moratorium 
 Alan Willett:  Spoke to his STR and retirement 
 Nicole Stroney:  Spoke to her STR and retirement 

 Anna Butler:  Supports the extension of the Moratorium 

- Page 4 -Item #2.



Monty Parks made a motion to approve the consent agenda.   Brian West seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 
Resolution 2022-06, Extending Moratorium.  Jay Burke recused. Mayor Sessions stated 
she does see both sides of the issue and Mayor and Council do hear what the citizens are saying.  
She then asked Michelle Owens to give a summary, timeline, of the past year regarding meetings 
that were held regarding STR’s. Ms. Owens outlined the events that began in September 2021 to 
include Zoom meetings, workshops and a survey to the public.  All this information is also available 
on the website.  Nancy DeVetter made a motion to approve extending the Moratorium until 
October 31, 2022.  Monty Parks seconded. Discussion:  Spec Hosti stated he has been 
working with Councilman Parks to address everyone’s concerns.  He also stated he is not in favor 
of the Moratorium.   Voting in favor were Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter, and Barry Brown.  Those 
voting against were Brian West and Spec Hosti.  Motion to approve, 3-2.  Jay Burke recused. 
 
Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn to Executive Session to discuss personnel, real estate 
and litigation.  Brian West seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to return to regular session.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was 
unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Barry Brown made a motion to adjourn.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous to 
approve, 60.   
 
Meeting adjourned at 9:30PM. 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Janet R. LeViner, MMC 
Clerk 

- Page 5 -Item #2.



File Attachments for Item:

3. Attachment to minutes

- Page 6 -Item #3.



- Page 7 -Item #3.



- Page 8 -Item #3.



- Page 9 -Item #3.



- Page 10 -Item #3.



- Page 11 -Item #3.



- Page 12 -Item #3.



- Page 13 -Item #3.



File Attachments for Item:

4. Site Plan: 601 US Hwy 80 – Cameron Weeks

- Page 14 -Item #4.



- Page 15 -Item #4.



- Page 16 -Item #4.



- Page 17 -Item #4.



- Page 18 -Item #4.



- Page 19 -Item #4.



- Page 20 -Item #4.



- Page 21 -Item #4.



- Page 22 -Item #4.



- Page 23 -Item #4.



- Page 24 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Special Review: 3 Ocean View Court – Daniel & Ann Iyer

- Page 25 -Item #5.



- Page 26 -Item #5.



- Page 27 -Item #5.



- Page 28 -Item #5.



- Page 29 -Item #5.



- Page 30 -Item #5.



- Page 31 -Item #5.



- Page 32 -Item #5.



- Page 33 -Item #5.



- Page 34 -Item #5.



- Page 35 -Item #5.



- Page 36 -Item #5.



- Page 37 -Item #5.



- Page 38 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Tree Appeal: 30 Meddin Drive – Tybee Island Historical Society.

- Page 39 -Item #6.



- Page 40 -Item #6.



- Page 41 -Item #6.



- Page 42 -Item #6.



- Page 43 -Item #6.



- Page 44 -Item #6.



- Page 45 -Item #6.



- Page 46 -Item #6.



- Page 47 -Item #6.



- Page 48 -Item #6.



- Page 49 -Item #6.



- Page 50 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Warick Group Consultants:  Approve the increase in funding for the coming year

- Page 51 -Item #7.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: September 8
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Warick Group has worked with the city of Tybee Island for the past two
decades to secure favorable legislation and funding from the federal government.
 
This year, they identified various sources of funding for projects on Tybee Island
other than the beach project and ship wake study. They submitted an earmark
request through Congressman Carter’s office for $2,600,000 to fund Phase 2 of
the storm water detention and outfall system around 14th and 15th street.  This
money was included in the current federal spending bill. 
 
The scope of the work for the following year includes several items related to its
beach nourishment project. They will work with the City’s Congressional
delegation, as well as appropriations committee professional staff on the Water
Resources Development Act of 2022, which includes legislation to extend the
City’s federal beach nourishment project by 12 or more years. In addition, Warick
will continue working with the City’s staff to coordinate the use of sand
economically sourced from the USACE dredging of the Savanah Harbor channel for
future beach nourishment events and facilitate proper inclusion of data in the Ship
Wake study that the city is working in partnership with the USACE. In addition,
They will continue to monitor and inform the City of opportunities to secure
funding for other City needs throughout the year.
 
Because of the additional work involved in the coming year the cost has increased
from $4,000 per month to $5,000 per month

Requested Council Action:
 
Approve the increased in funding for the Warick Group Consultants and authorize
the Mayor to sign the agreement.

- Page 52 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. First Reading:  09-2022 Regulation of Motorized Carts

- Page 53 -Item #8.



ORDINANCE NO. 09-2022 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF TYBEE 

ISLAND, GEORGIA, SO AS TO PROVIDE FOR THE REGULATION OF MOTORIZED 

CARTS WITHIN THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, 

is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia 

to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, 

is the Mayor and council thereof, and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances pursuant to its police 

and home rule powers, and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to address roadway safety for motorists and 

pedestrians by limiting the amount of congestion; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authority wishes to promote a cleaner environment by 

limiting the amount of pollution; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authority recognizes that gas and diesel powered motorized 

carts generate loud and unpleasant noise and seeks to promote a pleasant experience for residents 

and visitors due to noise; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authority believes restrictions on the use of gas and diesel 

motorized carts will promote these goals and provide further protections for residents and 

visitors;  

 

- Page 54 -Item #8.



 NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of 

Tybee Island that Section 66-8(b) be revoked and replaced so that it will hereafter read as 

follows:  

SECTION 1 

 The Code of Ordinances is hereby amended so that hereafter the section and subsections 

shall provide as follows: 

Sec. 66-8. – Motorized cart use. 

(b) Motorized carts.   

 

(1) “Motorized Carts” shall be as defined under O.C.G.A. § 40-1-1(43.4)(A), which provides 

that all such vehicles: 

a. Have no fewer than three wheels; 

b. Have an unladen weight of 1,300 pounds or less, and; 

c. Cannot operate at more than 20 miles per hour. 

 

(2) Registration. It shall be the duty of every owner of a motorized cart that is operated over 

the streets and those areas accessible by the public to register the motorized cart with the 

City within 48 hours of the motorized cart’s arrival to the City whether by purchase, 

acquisition or transport. The registration shall be effective for 12 months from the date of 

issuance of the decal. Thereafter, an owner is required to renew the registration of the 

motorized cart every 12 months.  

 

When registering the motorized cart initially and for any subsequent annual renewal, the 

owner shall present the motorized cart to the police department for an inspection. Only 

those motorized carts which pass inspection will be issued a registration decal. 

 

As part of the initial registration process and subsequent annual renewals, the owner must 

provide proof of liability insurance covering the motorized cart in an amount equal to the 

minimum liability limits set by the state for automobiles. An owner must maintain 

liability insurance on the motorized cart at all times. If a motorized cart is operated on the 

streets and public areas of the City without the appropriate insurance, the owner is subject 

to citation. 

 

Numerical decals shall be issued upon registration; and a record of each motorized cart 

number (“T Number”), along with the name and address of every owner, shall be 

maintained by the police department. The initial registration fee for motorized carts used 

in the City shall be $15.00. Owners are responsible to renew their registration every year 

including having the motorized cart inspected and providing proof of insurance. 

 

- Page 55 -Item #8.



Any person who is found operating an unregistered motorized cart on the City streets and 

public areas will be subject to citation. 

 

(3) Highway 80 Crossing. No motorized cart shall operate on Highway 80 except motorized carts 

shall be permitted to cross Highway 80 at the following designated locations only: 

a. Highway 80/Butler Avenue at locations south of the Park of Seven Flags; 

b. At the traffic controlled intersection of 14th Street and Highway 80; 

c. At the traffic controlled intersection of Campbell Avenue and Highway 80; and 

d. At the traffic controlled intersection of Jones Avenue and Highway 80. 

 

(4) City Streets. All streets of the City shall be accessible for an appropriately registered and used 

motorized cart thereon except as to Highway 80 as stated above. 

 

(5) Operation regulations. 

 

a. All motorized carts must be equipped with headlights, tail lights, brake lights, a flashing 

or rotating yellow or amber light mounted on the top, seatbelts, turn signals and a horn, 

and the maximum speed capability of any motorized cart must not exceed 20 miles per 

hour; 

b. No motorized cart shall be gas or diesel powered, provided that those gas or diesel 

powered motorized carts that are registered with the city prior to enactment of this 

ordinance may continue to be operated as permitted by this ordinance until such time as 

the owner disposes of such gas or diesel powered motorized cart. 

c. All occupants of a motorized cart must wear seatbelts at all times. 

d. Children car and booster seats used in a motorized cart must be approved by the 

manufacturer for use with lap belts only, without the necessity of a shoulder strap. 

Children’s car and booster seats may only be used in the front seat or another forward 

facing seat within a motorized cart. 

e. Motorized carts shall not be operated on the sidewalks or bike trails within the city. 

f. All operators shall abide by all traffic regulations applicable to motor vehicle traffic. 

g. Only licensed drivers are permitted to operate motorized carts and each owner is required 

to provide insurance for liability purposes in an amount not less than $25,000.00 per 

person, $50,000.00 per accident, and $15,000.00 in liability insurance. Proof of insurance 

shall be provided at the time of registration and be maintained in or on the vehicle. 

h. Motorized carts will only be operated by individuals who are at least 16 years of age and 

possess a valid driver’s license. 

i. It shall be unlawful for a motorized cart to be operated on the streets of the city except as 

expressly authorized in this section and every person convicted of a violation shall be 

punishable by a fine of not more than $1,000.00 or imprisonment of not more than 12 

months, or both. 

j. It shall be unlawful for any occupant of a motorized cart to throw or otherwise permit, 

bottles, cans, paper or rubbish, including cigarette butts, to be deposited in any public 

park, on the sidewalks, streets, beaches, lanes, highways or other public properties, or on 

private property of another, except into trash receptacles. Included would be the removal 

by wind or otherwise of such items from motorized cart due to having such items 

unsecured on such vehicles. “Rubbish” as used herein shall include any matter that does 

- Page 56 -Item #8.



not occur naturally in the area and specifically includes garbage, food items, peels, shells, 

etc., whether or not biodegradable.  

 

(6) Motorized cart rental regulations. Motorized cart dealers and distributors, as well as any 

other commercial establishment, may rent motorized carts to the public for use on the streets and 

those areas accessible by the public of the City, provided that such rental establishments comply 

with subsections (a) through (c) of this section. Renters shall be provided a copy of this article 

and a map illustrating Highway 80’s designated crossings. Renters shall provide a signature as 

proof of their acknowledgement and understanding of this article’s requirements. It shall be the 

responsibility of each such establishment renting motorized carts to maintain a written record of 

each renter’s signature of acknowledgement and understanding of this article’s requirements. 

 

a. No businesses shall rent gas or diesel powered motorized carts to the public for use on the 

streets and those areas accessible by the public of the City, provided however that those 

gas or diesel powered motorized carts currently owned by persons or businesses for the 

purpose of renting motorized carts to the public and which have been registered with the 

City prior to the date of this ordinance may continue to be used or rented to the public 

until such time as the current owner disposes of the motorized cart. 

b. Any business that begins renting motorized carts to the public after the date of this 

ordinance shall only rent electric or battery powered motorized carts to the public for use 

on the streets and those areas accessible by the public of the City. 

c. The maximum number of motorized carts a business may offer for rent to the public shall 

be no more than            motorized carts, provided, however, that all businesses which 

currently rent motorized carts to the public and which currently own and have registered 

motorized carts exceeding the limitations of this paragraph may continue to rent their 

motorized carts but shall not replace any motorized carts  that are sold or no longer 

operable so that their fleet of motorized carts s available for rental meets the limitations 

of this paragraph. 

 

(7) Signs. The City shall post signs giving notice of the existence of operating standards along 

appropriate public streets. 

 

(8) Motorized carts must observe the parking regulations and ordinances applicable to motorized 

vehicles and all parking therefor shall be by payment of the appropriate charge for parking in 

authorized parking places and/or the display of a valid decal for parking. All unregistered 

motorized carts are subject to citation for the failure to pay and/or register timely for parking in 

authorized places an no unregistered motorized cart shall have a legitimate parking decal until 

the motorized cart is registered as required by this section. 

 

(9) Penalties under this code section. In addition to any other penalties provided by law, anyone 

convicted of violating this section shall be fined not less than $100.00 for the first offense plus 

applicable court fees and not less than $200.00 for subsequent offenses plus applicable court fees 

for any subsequent offense occurring within a 12-month period of a preceding offense. 

 

SECTION 2 
 

- Page 57 -Item #8.



X:\Clients\000572\000286\GOLF CART ORD (ALL CARTS) (8.3.22) 

(redline) REV TCO.docx 

 All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

SECTION 3 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the provisions of 

this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances, City of 

Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be renumbered to accomplish such 

intention.  

SECTION 4 

 This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council pursuant to 

The Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

 This Ordinance shall become effective on ______ day of _________________________, 

2022. 

 

 ADOPTED THIS _____ DAY OF ____________________________, 2022. 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________ 

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

 

 FIRST READING: ________ 

  

 SECOND READING: _________ 

 

 ENACTED: __________ 

- Page 58 -Item #8.



ORDINANCE NO 09-2022 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF TYBEE 

ISLAND, GEORGIA, SO AS TO PROVIDE FOR THE REGULATION OF MOTORIZED 

CARTS WITHIN THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, 

is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia 

to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, 

is the Mayor and council thereof, and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances pursuant to its police 

and home rule powers, and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to address roadway safety for motorists and 

pedestrians by limiting the amount of congestion; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authority wishes to promote a cleaner environment by 

limiting the amount of pollution; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authority recognizes that gas and diesel powered motorized 

carts generate loud and unpleasant noise and seeks to promote the a pleasant experience for 

residents and visitors due to noise; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authority believes restrictions on the use of gas and diesel 

motorized carts will promote these goals and provide further protections for residents and 

visitors;  

- Page 59 -Item #8.



limit the amount of roadway traffic and the amount of pollution caused by the use of gas and 

diesel powered motorized carts for the protection of citizens and visitors to the City of Tybee 

Island, Georgia, 

 NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of 

Tybee Island that Section 66-8(b) be revoked and replaced so that it will hereafter read as 

follows:  

SECTION 1 

 The Code of Ordinances is hereby amended so that hereafter the section and subsections 

shall provide as follows: 

Sec. 66-8. – Motorized cart use. 

(b) Motorized carts.   

 

(1) “Motorized Carts” shall be as defined under O.C.G.A. § 40-1-1(43.4)(A), which provides 

that all such vehicles: 

a. Have no fewer than three wheels; 

b. Have an unladen weight of 1,300 pounds or less, and; 

c. Cannot operate at more than 20 miles per hour. 

 

(1)(2) Registration. It shall be the duty of every owner of a motorized cart that is 

operated over the streets and those areas accessible by the public to register the motorized 

cart with the City within 48 hours of the motorized cart’s arrival to the City whether by 

purchase, acquisition or transport. The registration shall be effective for 12 months from 

the date of issuance of the decal. Thereafter, an owner is required to renew the 

registration of the motorized cart every 12 months.  

 

When registering the motorized cart initially and for any subsequent annual renewal, the 

owner shall present the motorized cart to the police department for an inspection. Only 

those motorized carts which pass inspection will be issued a registration decal. 

 

As part of the initial registration process and subsequent annual renewals, the owner must 

provide proof of liability insurance covering the motorized cart in an amount equal to the 

minimum liability limits set by the state for automobiles. An owner must maintain 

liability insurance on the motorized cart at all times. If a motorized cart is operated on the 

streets and public areas of the City without the appropriate insurance, the owner is subject 

to citation. 

 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12

- Page 60 -Item #8.



Numerical decals shall be issued upon registration; and a record of each motorized cart 

number (“T Number”), along with the name and address of every owner, shall be 

maintained by the police department. The initial registration fee for motorized carts used 

in the City shall be $15.00. Owners are responsible to renew their registration every year 

including having the motorized cart inspected and providing proof of insurance. 

 

Any person who is found operating an unregistered motorized cart on the City streets and 

public areas will be subject to citation. 

 

(2)(3) Highway 80 Crossing. No motorized cart shall may be permitted to operate on 

Highway 80 and may onlyexcept motorized carts shall be permitted to cross Highway 80 

at the following designated locations only: 

a. Highway 80/Butler Avenue at locations south of the Park of Seven Flags; 

b. At the traffic controlled intersection of 14th Street and Highway 80; 

c. At the traffic controlled intersection of Campbell Avenue and Highway 80; and 

d. At the traffic controlled intersection of Jones Avenue and Highway 80. 

 

(4) City Streets. All streets of the City shall be accessible for an appropriately registered and 

used motorized cart thereon except as to Highway 80 as stated above. 

 

(5) Operation regulations. 

 

a. All motorized carts must be equipped with headlights, tail lights, brake lights, a flashing 

or rotating yellow or amber light mounted on the top, seatbelts, turn signals and a horn, 

and the maximum speed capability of any motorized cart must not exceed 20 miles per 

hour; 

b. No motorized cart shall be gas or diesel powered, provided that those gas or diesel 

powered motorized carts that are registered with the city prior to enactment of this 

ordinance may continue to be operated as permitted by this ordinance until such time as 

the owner disposes of such gas or diesel powered motorized cart. 

c. All occupants of a motorized cart must wear seatbelts at all times. 

d. Children car and booster seats used in a motorized cart must be approved by the 

manufacturer for use with lap belts only, without the necessity of a shoulder strap. 

Children’s car and booster seats may only be used in the front seat or another forward 

facing seat within a motorized cart. 

a.e. Motorized carts shall not be operated on the sidewalks or bike trails within the city. 

b.f. All operators shall abide by all traffic regulations applicable to motor vehicle traffic. 

c.g. Only licensed drivers are permitted to operate motorized carts and each owner is required 

to provide insurance for liability purposes in an amount not less than $25,000.00 per 

person, $50,000.00 per accident, and $15,000.00 in liability insurance. Proof of insurance 

shall be provided at the time of registration and be maintained in or on the vehicle. 

d.h.Motorized carts will only be operated by individuals who are at least 16 years of age and 

possess a valid driver’s license. 

e.i. It shall be unlawful for a motorized cart to be operated on the streets of the city except as 

expressly authorized in this section and every person convicted of a violation shall be 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 +

Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12

- Page 61 -Item #8.



punishable by a fine of not more than $1,000.00 or imprisonment of not more than 12 

months, or both. 

f.j. It shall be unlawful for any occupant of a motorized cart to throw or otherwise permit, 

bottles, cans, paper or rubbish, including cigarette butts, to be deposited in any public 

park, on the sidewalks, streets, beaches, lanes, highways or other public properties, or on 

private property of another, except into trash receptacles. Included would be the removal 

by wind or otherwise of such items from motorized cart due to having such items 

unsecured on such vehicles. “Rubbish” as used herein shall include any matter that does 

not occur naturally in the area and specifically includes garbage, food items, peels, shells, 

etc., whether or not biodegradable.   

 

(6)(5) Motorized cart rental regulations. Motorized cart dealers and distributors, as well as any 

other commercial establishment, may rent motorized carts to the public for use on the streets and 

those areas accessible by the public of the City, provided that such rental establishments comply 

with subsections (a) through (c) of this section. Renters shall be provided a copy of this article 

and a map illustrating Highway 80’s designated crossings. Renters shall provide a signature as 

proof of their acknowledgement and understanding of this article’s requirements. It shall be the 

responsibility of each such establishment renting motorized carts to maintain a written record of 

each renter’s signature of acknowledgement and understanding of this article’s requirements. 

 

a. No businesses shall rent gas or diesel powered motorized carts to the public for use on the 

streets and those areas accessible by the public of the City, provided however that those 

gas or diesel powered motorized carts currently owned by persons or businesses or 

persons for the purpose of renting them motorized carts to the public and which have 

been registered with the City prior to the date of this ordinance may continue to be used 

or rented to the public or used until such time as the current owner disposes of the 

motorized cart. 

b. Any business that begins renting motorized carts to the public after the date of this 

ordinance shall only rent electric or battery powered motorized carts to the public for use 

on the streets and those areas accessible by the public of the City. 

a.c. The maximum number of motorized carts a business may offer for rent to the public shall 

be no more than            motorized carts________________, provided, however, that all 

businesses which currently rent motorized carts to the public and which currently own 

and have registered a number of motorized carts for such purpose that exceedings the 

limitations of this paragraph may continue to rent their motorized cartscarts but shall not 

replace any motorized carts carts that are sold or no longer operable so that their fleet of 

motorized carts scarts available for rental make any further carts available for rent until 

such time as the number of carts available for rent by such business meets falls below the 

limitations of this paragraph via sale or other disposal of carts. 

 

(7) Signs. The City shall post signs giving notice of the existence of operating standards along 

appropriate public streets. 

 

(8) Motorized carts must observe the parking regulations and ordinances applicable to motorized 

vehicles and all parking therefor shall be by payment of the appropriate charge for parking in 

authorized parking places and/or the display of a valid decal for parking. All unregistered 

- Page 62 -Item #8.



motorized carts are subject to citation for the failure to pay and/or register timely for parking in 

authorized places an no unregistered motorized cart shall have a legitimate parking decal until 

the motorized cart is registered as required by this section. 

 

(9) Penalties under this code section. In addition to any other penalties provided by law, anyone 

convicted of violating this subsection (b)(4) shall be fined not less than $100.00 for the first 

offense plus applicable court fees and not less than $200.00 for subsequent offenses plus 

applicable court fees for any subsequent offense occurring within a 12-month period of a 

preceding offense. 

 

SECTION 2 
 

 All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

SECTION 3 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the provisions of 

this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances, City of 

Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be renumbered to accomplish such 

intention.  

SECTION 4 

 This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council pursuant to 

The Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

 This Ordinance shall become effective on ______ day of _________________________, 

2022. 

 

 ADOPTED THIS _____ DAY OF ____________________________, 2022. 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________ 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12

- Page 63 -Item #8.



X:\Clients\000572\000286\GOLF CART ORD (ALL CARTS) (8.3.22) 

(redline) REV TCO.docx 

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

 

 FIRST READING: ________ 

  

 SECOND READING: _________ 

 

 ENACTED: __________ 

Formatted: Font: 7 pt

Formatted: Font: 7 pt

- Page 64 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

9. Resolution, 2022-07, Salt Meadows and Savannah River Utilities Company

- Page 65 -Item #9.



RESOLUTION NO. 2022-______ 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY ATTORNEYS TO NEGOTIATE A 

CONTRACT WITH SAVANNAH RIVER UTILITIES COMPANY FOR SALT 

MEADOWS PROJECT 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island, Georgia (hereinafter “City” or “Tybee Island”) has 

been pursuing the permits for the improvement of the road known as Salt Meadows and sometimes 

referred to as South Polk Street; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City and an impacted property owner, Michael Leonard, secured a permit 

dated July 29, 2021 after multiple efforts to do so (hereinafter “the Project”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has previously sought bids through an invitation to bid and proposals 

through requests for proposals; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the effort of the City to secure appropriate bids and/or proposals were 

unsuccessful, but did result in the City securing estimates for the Project; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the best or most feasible estimate for the Project was submitted by Savannah 

River Utilities Company; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has now received a quote for the Project for a total amount of 

$65,000.00 which would be shared with the private property owner for his property covered by 

the permit; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to the supply chain and other issues, difficulties have been encountered 

in securing proposals and/or bids for the Project; and  

 

 WHEREAS, emergency conditions exist for those that use Salt Meadows for access and 

therefor the public portion of the road should be improved as promptly as possible in accordance 

with procurement policies and state law; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the property owner has agreed to be responsible for the cost of providing the 

material and work related thereto for the private portion of the Project, as the City is unable to be 

responsible for work on private property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has previously approved an agreement with the private property 

owner; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has now received the attached quote from Savannah River Utilities 

Company for the Project and wishes to proceed with the contract in order to get this long delayed 

project completed; and 

 

 WHEREAS, all work and requirements of permit compliance will be shared by the City 

and the private property owner in proportion to the relative amount of property impacted; 

 

- Page 66 -Item #9.



 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City authorizes the city attorney to work 

with Savannah River Utilities Company in order to have an appropriate contract prepared 

consistent with the permits issued by the Department of Natural Resources and the U.S. Army 

Corps of Engineers as promptly as possible and that the work be accomplished in accordance with 

state and any other applicable law and that the private property owner remain responsible for all 

costs associated with the private portion of the Project. 

 

 FURTHER, once the contract with the contractor is approved by the city attorney, the 

Mayor is authorized to sign the contract and for work thereunder to commence. 

 

 BE IT SO RESOLVED in Open Meeting, this _____ day of September, 2022. 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By _________________________  Mayor:______________________ 

         City Clerk     City of Tybee Island 

(SEAL)  

- Page 67 -Item #9.



- Page 68 -Item #9.



- Page 69 -Item #9.



File Attachments for Item:

10. Planning Commission Minutes August 15, 2022

- Page 70 -Item #10.



 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION                                        CITY MANAGER  
Marie Gooding                                        Shawn Gillen 
Susan Hill 
David McNaughton  
Elaine McGruder COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
Whitley Reynolds              George Shaw  
Marie Rodriguez          

   Martha Williams                                      CITY ATTORNEY    CITY ATTORNEY   
                                          Edward M. Hughes
                                                                                                                      

 
 

Planning Commission Meeting 
MINUTES 

August 15, 2022 
 
 
Chair David McNaughton called the August 15, 2022, Tybee Island Planning Commission meeting to 
order. Commissioners present were Vice Chair Elaine McGruder, Susan Hill, Whitley Reynolds, 
Marie Rodriguez, Marie Gooding and Martha Williams. 
 
Consideration of Minutes: 
Chair David McNaughton asked for consideration of the July 18, 2022, meeting minutes. Susan Hill 
made a motion to approve. Elaine McGruder seconded. Vote was unanimous. 
 
Disclosures/Recusals: 
Chair David McNaughton asked if there were any Disclosures or Recusals. David McNaughton 
stated he would recuse himself from the Text Amendment to the Land Development code and Elaine 
McGruder will chair during that item.  
 
Public Hearings: 
 
Tree Appeal: 30 Meddin Drive – Tybee Island Historical Society. 
George Shaw stated when this property had these thirty four oak trees planted they were planted too 
close together for oak trees. They would like to remove fourteen of these trees for the health of the 
remaining trees. The arborists agree these do need to be removed. This is not contemplated in our 
ordinance, these are significant trees and we don’t allow them to be removed. This is an appeal and staff 
recommends approval. Allen Lewis, vice president of the Tybee Island Historical Society, who lives at 8 
Lighthouse Lane, approached the Planning Commission and stated this is the area behind where the 
Tybee Farmers Market is located. The trees are eating themselves and need to be thinned out. Sarah 
Jones, executive director of the Tybee Island Historical Society, approached the Planning Commission 
and stated she would like to add that they are worried about the weak limbs falling and the vendors that 
attend the Farmers Market. Hope Barton, president of the Tybee Island Historical Society, approached 
the Planning Commission and stated that live oak trees have an entangled root system that needs to be 
kept in tact that is why they need to be cut at ground level. Elaine McGruder made a motion to 
approve. Marie Rodriguez seconded. The vote to approve was unanimous. Chair David 
McNaughton stated five months ago Planning Commission voted unanimously to recommend that City 
Council change the code to address these kind of issues. He asked the Planning Commissioners shall we 
send this to City Council again to add to Section 7-060. Planning Commissioners agreed unanimously. 
(The Planning Commission also agreed to resend to Council a proposed amendment to 
Section 7-060, the tree ordinance, to add an exception for removal of significant trees, as 

 

- Page 71 -Item #10.



 

 

follows: 3. In accordance with overall tree conservation objectives detailed in Sec. 7-020 
and in alignment with best practices of the American National Standards Institute’s 
International Society of Arboriculture body of knowledge, as recommended by the 
zoning administrator and a certified arborist.)  
 
Site Plan: 601 US Hwy 80 – Cameron Weeks 
George Shaw stated the applicant Mr. Weeks has applied to start a golf cart rental business in the old 
Freddy’s garage auto repair shop. That is in the C-2 zoning district. He is not changing anything on the 
exterior of the building. They are not adding any additional impervious surfaces. The site has access to 
Fifth Avenue so no carts will have to go on Highway 80. There is ample room for the required parking 
spaces and staff recommends approval. Elaine McGruder asked what is going to keep people from 
going onto Highway 80. George Shaw stated the police.  
Elaine McGruder stated you going to have a police officer there, I don’t think so. George Shaw stated 
no, but the rental agent is required to explain all that to the renters. There is another golf cart rental on 
Highway 80 and Campbell. Cameron Weeks, who lives at 605 Miller Avenue, approached the Planning 
Commission and asked if anyone had any questions for him. Chair David McNaughton stated he is 
looking at the survey that was in the package and where are you going to put the golf carts and how many 
will there be. Cameron Weeks stated the golf carts will be stored inside the garage as well as behind it, 
and there will be thirty golf carts. David McNaughton asked who will make sure they do go onto Fifth 
Avenue and not Highway 80 and will you provide some kind of map so when they leave they know which 
way to go to the correct crossing. Cameron Weeks stated yes they will be read the contract and rules 
and a map as well per City ordinance. David McNaughton asked if you have one to show us tonight. 
Marie Gooding asked Cameron Weeks to give his business plan a lot of thought and make sure his 
customers follow your directions. Martha Williams stated she has a couple of concerns. One is 
underage drivers and two intoxicated drivers. How will you address people breaking those types of rules, 
major infractions? Cameron Weeks stated the cart will immediately be revoked and the contract will state 
all those rules. Debbie Kearney, who lives at 1101 Second Avenue, approached the Planning 
Commission and asked if there is any precedence to ask the residence around the property how they feel 
about a new business on their street. George Shaw stated adjacent properties are given a notice and 
there is a sign on the property a week before the meeting. And we have not had any comments or letters 
since the post. Dale Williams, who lives at 1101 Second Avenue, approached the Planning Commission 
and stated he hopes Cameron Weeks could commit to electric golf carts, but if he uses motorized golf 
carts he would be strongly opposed. Whitley Reynolds made a motion to approve. Marie Gooding 
seconded. The vote was 4-2. Motion to approve ruled. 
 
Special Review: 3 Ocean View Court – Daniel & Ann Iyer. 
George Shaw stated this home is next to the dunes and the landward side of the dunes is currently 
under their house. They would like to build a retaining wall ten feet back from where the current toe of 
the dune is located. Staff recommends approval. Daniel Iyer, who lives at 3 Ocean View Court, 
approached the Planning Commission and stated they would like to redo their home and the dunes need 
a barrier to keep from cracking the foundation. David McNaughton asked if he was demolishing the 
house to build a new one. Daniel Iyer yes it will be in the same area, and the problem will still remain. 
The house will not be able to go exactly where the house is now, but we have accounted for that with the 
new plans. David McNaughton asked if he had an engineering opinion of whether the dune 
encroachment threatens the integrity of the home. Daniel Iyer stated before he bought the home an 
engineer stated based on the flood waters it will be an issue. David McNaughton asked if eight foot is 
necessary. Daniel Iyer stated yes that would still keep the dunes intact. Susan Hill stated this is a huge 
undertaking and she hopes it works out for you. Elaine McGruder made a motion to approve. Whitley 
Reynolds seconded. The vote to approve was unanimous.  
 

- Page 72 -Item #10.



 

 

Text Amendment: Land Development Code –4-050(A) (2) -4-050(A),(B), (C) -5-
020(A) -5- 040(B) -City of Tybee Island 
George Shaw stated these are three separate ordinance amendments to the land development code that 
involve short term rentals. Z1 provides a method for owner occupied to be allowed in R-1, R-1-B & R-2 
districts. Z2’s biggest item in it is making short term rentals non-conforming uses. Z3 addresses parking.  
  
Speakers on Text Amendment: 
Debbie Kearney, 1101 Second Avenue. Ken Williams, 1710 Chatham Avenue. Dale Williams, 1102 Second 
Avenue. Nick Sears, 1304 Venetian Drive. Jan Will, 15 N. Campbell. 
 
On Z-1, Whitley Reynolds made a motion to deny. Susan Hill seconded. The vote to deny was 3-2. 
Whitley Reynolds, Marie Gooding and Susan Hill voted yeah and Marie Rodriguez and Martha 
Williams voted nay. 
 
On Z-2, Martha Williams made a motion to send to City Council with all comments. Marie 
Rodriguez seconded. The vote was 3-2. Marie Gooding, Susan Hill and Whitley Reynolds voted 
nay. Martha Williams and Marie Rodriguez voted yeah. Motion failed.  
Marie Gooding made a motion to deny as written and incorporate comments from Planning 
Commission and send back for review again. Susan Hill seconded. The vote to deny was 4-1. Marie 
Gooding, Susan Hill, Marie Rodriguez and Martha Williams voted yeah and Whitley Reynolds 
voted nay.  
 
On Z-3, Susan Hill made a motion to deny and incorporate comments from Planning Commission. 
Whitley Reynolds seconded. The vote to deny was unanimous.  
  
 
  
 
Adjournment: 8:30pm 
Lisa L. Schaaf 

- Page 73 -Item #10.


	Top
	Item #1.	Employee of the 2nd Quarter:  Michele Dicus, River's End Campground
	Item #2.	Minutes:  City Council Meeting, August 25, 2022
	20220825Minutes

	Item #3.	Attachment to Minutes
	attachments

	Item #4.	Site Plan: 601 US Hwy 80 – Cameron Weeks
	601 HWY 80-SITE PLAN

	Item #5.	Special Review: 3 Ocean View Court – Daniel & Ann Iyer
	3 OCEANVIEW CT-SPECIAL REVIEW

	Item #6.	Tree Appeal: 30 Meddin Drive – Tybee Island Historical Society.
	30 MEDDIN DR-TREE APPEAL

	Item #7.	Warick Group Consultants:  Approve the increase in funding for the coming year
	Warick Group Consultants Fee Increase

	Item #8.	First Reading:  09-2022 Regulation of Motorized Carts
	GOLF CART ORD (ALL CARTS) (8.3.22) (006) (JES) (002)
	GOLF CART ORD (ALL CARTS) (8.3.22) (redline) (006) (JES)

	Item #9.	Resolution, 2022-07-, Salt Meadows and Savannah River Utilities Company
	Resolution - Salt Meadows and Savannah River Utilities Company 8-31-2022
	20220908083232628

	Item #10.	Planning Commission Minutes August 15, 2022
	20220815_PC_MINUTES

	Item #11.	Brian West:  Tybee Island Ballot Referendum on STR's
	Bottom

